SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON



FILED

DEC 1 8 2017

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

In re the Marriage of

MELODY HAYNES,

PETITIONER/RESPONDENT

V.

GORDON SECCO,

RESPONDENT/APPELLANT

(SUPERIOR COURT MATTER NO. 14-3-00278-3 HONORABLE RAYMOND CLARY SUPERIOR COURT JUDGE)

APPELLATE CAUSE NO. 340503

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF MELODY HAYNES

Gary R Stenzel, WSBA #16974
Attorney for the Respondent Debra Cromer
Stenzel Law Office
1304 W. College Ave. LL
Spokane, WA 99201
(509) 327-2000
(509) 327-5151 Fax

Stenz2193@comcast.net

I. FACTS

On or about the date of February 4, 2014 Ms. Secco filed a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage in this county. CP 1-12. Attempts were made to serve Mr. Secco personally without success, even by a Spokane County Sheriff deputy. CP 24-25/33-34. On April 2nd, 2014 Ms. Haynes' attorney Paul Dec (WSBA) #47090) signed a Motion and Declaration to allow service by mail on Mr. Secco. CP 13-18. His motion stated in part: Mr. Secco the "nonmoving party has concealed himself/herself to avoid service." Id. At 2.3 of this form he also said, "service has been attempted 7 times by 2 different authorizes and have been unsuccessful." Id. He then stated that efforts were made to locate Mr. Secco by the Spokane Sheriff's department on at least 5 different occasions" and that consistent with the court rule at CR 4, that service by mail is as "likely to provide actual notice as service by publication". See again CP 13-18.

With regard to the parties living situation at the time of filing the Petition for Dissolution, Ms. Haynes indicated that Mr. Secco called the residence on Augusta his primary residence. CP 35-43 & 117-120. Although Mr. Secco claims that Ms. Haynes lived at that residence as well, she also indicated, in a contradictory declaration that she in fact moved out of their home to not only protect herself from him and his threats, she indicated that she thought she could

not live there during the period he was to be served by mail. See Affidavit of Petitioner in Response to the motion to vacate the default. CP 117-120.

In her declaration, Ms. Haynes states that not only did Mr. Secco threaten to "kill her", that she also moved out of the family residence where he lived for many other reasons besides the service issues. Id. Therefore, the notion put forth by the Appellant that she was also living there when he was served by mail was and is mainly a sort of "form over substance" argument and makes Ms. Haynes argument that that was his residence too when service was effected.

Ms. Haynes story about the abusiveness of Mr. Secco was corroborated by her daughter who stated that after Mr. Secco became abusive her mother moved out of the Augusta house to get away from him. See 9-24-15 declaration of Kaily Wilson, CP 127-129. Ms. Wilson also indicated that Mr. Secco in her experience, would never answer the door if someone knocked on it. Id.

Mr. Secco was the consistent resident, during the time of the various attempted services, including the mail service, to live at Augusta house full time. CP 117-129. Ms. Haynes also explained that she never picked up the mail at the Augusta address even

¹ Ms. Haynes had also obtained a restraining order against Mr. Secco on the date of 8/25/14 (cause no. 14-2-03334-1) therefore, she could not be around him or the restraining orders may become moot. Those particular restraints also ordered

when she lived there, instead always came home from work after 5pm and Mr. Secco would have already obtained the mail himself. CP 117-120.

Given the service problems, on or about the date of April 2nd, 2016 Ms. Haynes applied for and was granted the right to serve Mr. Gecco by mail. CP 19-20.

A hearing was held in Exparte Court to get the order to serve by mail signed. Commissioner Rachel Anderson, the assigned family law commissioner signed the order on the date of April 7, 2014. CP 19-20. On April 8th, 2014 Ms. Secco's attorney served Mr. Secco by mail. See affidavit of service by mail at his last known address on Augusta. CP 33-34/62.

Having no response from the Respondent/Appellant to the mailed Summons and Petition, on the date of July 9, 2014 Ms. Haynes' counsel filed a Motion for Default against Mr. Secco. CP 26-29. The motion for default indicated in the return of service that Mr. Secco was served at the former family residence at 8010 E. Augusta Ave, Spokane Valley, WA. Id. A default order was entered accordingly. CP 30-32.

On or about the date of October 13, 2014 Ms. Haynes obtained a new attorney, and Ms. Costello set a presentment of the final divorce decree for October 27, 2014 (CP 44-45 & 46-60). However, by October 2014 Mr. Secco was incarcerated at Geiger

Correctional on Spotted Rd in Spokane, for allegedly committing domestic violence on Ms. Haynes, and so she mailed notice of this presentment to Geiger Correctional, his new address, on October 16, 2014. CP 61-62. This notice included the date and time of the presentment and a copy of the proposed final orders in the matter. Id.

Although being served with this notice of the presentment Mr. Secco now had another chance to contest the divorce papers, however, as before, Mr. Secco made no attempt to hire counsel, send a letter to the court notifying them of his incarceration, or even place a call to the judge's assistant to note the file that he could not be there. He also made no effort to try and get a transport to the court to deal with this matter. CP 183-186 containing the Commissioner's findings at the CR 60 hearing to vacate the default.

Final Dissolution orders were entered on October 27th, 2014, providing for a distribution of property. CP 63-72. Although it is true that the distribution was in favor of Ms. Haynes, it was not outside the realm of possible decisions available to her, and was uncontested given the fact that Mr. Secco received a copy of what was going to be presented long before they were signed. CP 44-60.

Sometime after Mr. Secco got out of jail, he filed his initial CR60 motion to vacate their Decree. CP 74-116. His motion was

heard by Commissioner Anderson on the date of October 30, 2015, and was denied because there was "no compelling reason" to vacate the ruling. CP 166. Subsequently, the Respondent filed a motion for revision of the Commissioner's ruling. (CP 202-205). That revision request was denied by Judge Clary. CP 205.

Almost a year later Mr. Secco filed another CR 60 motion based on alleged fraud by Ms. Haynes, but not until after filing this first appeal. CP 280-283. That motion was also denied by Judge Clary as well. CP 290. A second appeal was filed on the last Revision order and the two appeals were consolidated. CP 284-289.

Mr. Secco has filed this appeal claiming many reasons for overturning the denials of his CR 60 motions, and seems to focus on what Commissioner Anderson said in her ruling in his opening brief. Most of his arguments revolve around CR 4(d)(4) and that the court had no jurisdiction. Mr. Secco makes little argument about Judge Clary's revision denial even though that is of greater procedural importance in this appeal, in this writer's opinion. This then is Ms. Haynes' response to this appeal.

II. Law & Argument

A. Ms. Haynes could not have served Mr. Secco the initial summons and Petition, therefore the notion that she too lived at the Augusta residence as well is irrelevant to whether he made himself available to the process servers.

The case law in this state is clear, a party may not serve the

other party with any initial pleadings that require personal service of process. CR 4(c) specifically indicates that a party to an action cannot serve the non-moving party with any action, or court papers that require personal service on the other party. See also, *Crouch v. Friedman*, 51 Wash.App. 731, 754 P.2d 1299 (1988); *Columbia Vly. Credit Exch., Inc. v. Lampson*, 12 Wash.App. 952, 533 P.2d 152, review denied, 85 Wash.2d 1018 (1975).

Regardless of Mr. Secco's argument as to the validity of the mail service order, his counsel clearly knows Ms. Haynes could not serve Mr. Secco with any papers in their home. Therefore, it did not matter that at one time or another she was residing in their family home. However, to insure there was no argument that she was in the house and therefore, could have received his mail, she moved out during the time the order allowing service by mail was in effect, until he was served. His argument then that somehow her being a resident of the family home does nothing to the fact that Mr. Secco also lived there and was available to receive his mail there.

B. Spokane Superior Court had jurisdiction to enter a default against Mr. Secco given the CR 4(d)(4) declaration provided by Petitioner's attorney, and the case law interpreting this court rule's application.

One of Mr. Secco's first and most vehement arguments is that the Superior Court had no jurisdiction to enter a default judgment because CR 4(d)(4) was not properly followed. And since CR 4(d)(4) is to be strictly followed, that there could not be any jurisdiction because Ms. Haynes somehow knew Mr. Secco could be found because she also lived at his residence. Ipso facto her attorney could not say he could not be found in the state. (See Appellant's Opening Brief)

The case of Ashley v. Superior Court In and For Pierce County, 83 Wn.2d 630, 521 P.2d 711 (1974) is the seminal case on service by publication or mail. As a result of Ashley our Supreme Court ordered a new court rule codifying that case in what is now known as CR4(d)(4). CR 4(d)(4) states,

(4) Alternative to Service by Publication. In circumstances justifying service by publication, if the serving party files an affidavit stating facts from which the court determines that service by mail is just as likely to give actual notice as service by publication, the court may order that service be made by any person over 18 years of age, who is competent to be a witness, other than a party, by mailing copies of the summons and other process to the party to be served at the party's last known address or any other address determined by the court to be appropriate. Two copies shall be mailed, postage prepaid, one by ordinary first class mail and the other by a form of mail requiring a signed receipt showing when and to whom it was delivered. The envelopes must bear the return address of the sender. The summons shall contain the date it was deposited in the mail and shall require the defendant to appear and answer the complaint within 90 days from the date of mailing. Service under this subsection has the same jurisdictional effect as service by publication.

As can be seen this court rule can appear somewhat complicated but spells out what is needed for publication or mail service on a non-moving party. The court in the case of *In re Marriage of Logg*, 74 Wn.App. 781, 875 P.2d 647 (Div. 3 1994) analyzed the application of CR 4(d)(4) and indicated that a summons for publication and ipso facto, an order for mailed service, is allowed only if the following requirements are met:

- 1. The defendant cannot be found in the state ...
- 2. Plaintiff, his agent, or attorney file an affidavit stating that he believes the defendant cannot be found in the state.
- 3. A copy of the summons has been mailed if the residence is known. [Obviously only necessary for publication, sic]
- 4. There is a statement in the affidavit that the defendant, being a resident of this state, has departed therefrom with intent to defraud his creditors, or the Respondent/Defendant, to avoid the service of a summons, keeps himself concealed therein with like intent. (Emphasis added) (Citing Dobbins v. Beal, 4 Wash.App. 616, 619, 483 P.2d 874, review denied, 79 Wash.2d 1007 (1971)). The Logg court also indicated that a "bare recitation of these

factors is insufficient. The <u>conclusions</u> are required, but so are the <u>facts supporting the conclusions</u>. Citing *Brennan v. Hurt*, 59 Wash.App. 315, 317, 796 P.2d 786 (1990), review denied, 116 Wash.2d 1002, 803 P.2d 1310 (1991).

In the *Logg* the affidavit did not recite that the Defendant could not be found in the state; it only stated that he was on the road frequently and was difficult to locate at any given time. The

summons was not mailed to any of the three addresses the defendant provided, although counsel apparently thought one of the addresses was current, at least for purposes of mailing. There was also "no averment that Mr. Logg left the state *for purposes of avoiding service*, let alone a statement of supporting facts." (Emphasis added) See *Lepeska v. Farley*, 67 Wash.App. 548, 554, 833 P.2d 437 (1992). Finally, there was also no allegation that the defendant *concealed himself within the state to avoid service*.

As further stated in *Logg*, publication requirements (thus mailed service requirements) are strictly construed. See *Kent v. Lee*, 52 Wash.App. 576, 579-80, 762 P.2d 24 (1988). Cf., *Jones v. Stebbins*, 122 Wash.2d 471, 481-82, 860 P.2d 1009 (1993), as also cited in *Logg*. "At least one of the eight factual scenarios enumerated in RCW 4.28.100 to which publication applies must be recited in the affidavit. *Kent*, 52 Wash.App. at 579, 762 P.2d 24." The *Logg* court also said, "An affidavit that omits the essential statutory elements is as good as no affidavit at all." *Kent*, at 579, 762 P.2d 24.

The eight factual scenarios cited in RCW 4.28.100 are as follows:

- (1) When the defendant is a foreign corporation, and has property within the state;
- (2) When the defendant, being a resident of this state, has departed therefrom with intent to defraud his or her creditors, or to avoid the service of a summons, or keeps himself or herself concealed therein with like intent; (Emphasis added)

- (3) When the defendant is not a resident of the state, but has property therein and the court has jurisdiction of the subject of the action;
- (4) When the action is for (a) establishment or modification of a parenting plan or residential schedule; or (b) dissolution of marriage, legal separation, or declaration of invalidity, in the cases prescribed by law;
- (5) When the action is for nonparental custody under chapter 26.10 RCW and the child is in the physical custody of the petitioner:
- (6) When the subject of the action is real or personal property in this state, and the defendant has or claims a lien or interest, actual or contingent, therein, or the relief demanded consists wholly, or partly, in excluding the defendant from any interest or lien therein;
- (7) When the action is to foreclose, satisfy, or redeem from a mortgage, or to enforce a lien of any kind on real estate in the county where the action is brought, or satisfy or redeem from the same;
- (8) When the action is against any corporation, whether private or municipal, organized under the laws of the state, and the proper officers on whom to make service do not exist or cannot be found;

In this case, Ms. Haynes attorney specifically plead #(2), that Mr. Secco *keeps himself concealed to avoid service*, in her attorney Mr. Dec's declaration in support of service by mail, therefore, this requirement was met to establish jurisdiction as well as specifically following CR 4(d)(4)'s instructions.

C. The Appellant claims that the reason why the Commissioner denied his original motion to vacate, was because he was not timely in filing his motion; however, timeliness of filing was not the only basis the Commissioner enumerated in support of a denial of Mr. Secco's motion to vacate the default decree.

The Appellant states in his brief that his original motion to vacate was primarily focused on his theory that the default decree was void for lack of jurisdiction, citing CR 60(b)(5), and states that

instead the "Trial Court" (who was Commissioner Anderson according to his Clerk's Papers designation) focused primarily on the timeliness of his motion, rather than the more important issue of "voidness". [See p. 17 of Appellant's Opening Brief. He then refers to CP 185 as the source of this argument.]

CP 185 is the transcript of the hearing and ruling by Commissioner Anderson. That transcript is "dicta" and is not incorporated in the Order of October 30, 2015. The actual Order states in the findings that, "After reviewing the case record to date, and the basis for the motion, the court finds that service was properly effectuated and Respondent failed to present a compelling reason as to why the matter should be vacated." CP 166.

It is understood that the Appellate Court may look to oral findings to interpret the written findings of fact, if necessary. *State v. Hescock*, 98 Wn.App. 600, 606, 989 P.2d 1251 (1999). When we look at the transcript of Commissioner Anderson's ruling she did not deny the CR 60 motion simply because the Appellant took a long time to file it. She made it clear that there were several reasons for denying the motion. The Commissioner's reasons for denying the motion were as follows:

1. The motion to allow service by mail was proper. CP 183-184;

- 2. There were multiple attempts to serve Mr. Secco without success. CP 183;
- 3. Mr. Secco's incarceration was really not an excuse for not even sending the court a letter about the default and presentment; Mr. Secco did nothing. CP 184-185;
- 4. It was unreasonable to rely on the fact that Ms. Haynes also lived in the same house as a reason why Mr. Secco should not answer the door to allow deputies to serve him. CP 183-186;
- 5. That Ms. Haynes had stopped living at the joint residence with the Appellant when he was to be served by mail; therefore, he was the only one to get the mail during that time. CP 184;
- 6. Mr. Secco offered no explanation why he would not have received the mail service of the summons at the Augusta residence, where he lived. CP 183-186;
- 7. Mr. Secco never, from review of the transcript, attempted to respond properly to the summons. CP 183-186;

The Commissioner specifically found many reasons for not granting the motion. It was not just the timeliness of Mr. Secco's motion that was the problem.

D. The Court Commissioner did consider appropriate equitable factor of Mr. Secco being incarcerated as an alleged impediment to his responding to the Petition, before making its ruling on the Appellant's CR 60 motion.

The Appellant alleges that the trial court failed to consider CR 60 factor (b)(9), his unavoidable misfortune of being incarcerated in deciding to deny his motion to vacate the default, and that this was error. However, Commissioner Anderson specifically showed that she in fact did consider his incarceration in this matter. She said:

"... there is proof in this court file that, as Ms. Costello indicates, not only did they provide Mr. Secco notice of presentment on final documents while he was incarcerated, but there was also notice of these [sic] are the proposed final orders that are being proffered to the Court. And Mr. Secco did not make an attempt. [Sic] there are avenues a person, even representing yourself, could put some sort of correspondence in the court file. We see it all the time that we get mail from the jail, Nothing appeared in this court file," and the default orders were entered. CP 185.

Commissioner Anderson specifically showed she considered at least 7 different factors in this decision to deny the motion to vacate, and specifically also dealt with the fact that Mr. Secco was incarcerated. And also, dealt with the fact that Ms. Haynes lived there with him from time to time. CP 182-186. She and the Revision Judge considered each fact in this matter individually; there was not simple "denial" ruling. Each argument was considered individually and clearly, far in a way satisfying the *Calhoun v. Merritt*, 46 Wn.App 616, 731 P.2d 1094 (1986) case standard. Again, Mr. Secco's incarceration did not in any

way hamper him from at least sending a letter to the court file asking for some leeway in avoiding the entry of the final default orders. Instead he did nothing, apparently passively avoiding anything that would help him avoid the effect of the original default; which also was in no way Ms. Haynes' fault.

E. Although Mr. Secco claimed that Ms. Haynes somehow committed fraud by allowing her attorney to state that the Appellant was "out of state" to obtain the order allowing service by mail; he fails to show how that was fraud, when all that is needed to obtain the order is to show that Mr. Secco was intentionally avoiding service, as an alternative part of a CR4(d)(4) declaration.

Again, a careful reading of CR 4(d)(4) indicates that there are two bases for obtaining an order to serve someone by mail. You can either show that they are not in the state, or that they are avoiding service. In this case, Spokane County uses a standard form for a motion for service by mail. That form asks some questions about where the respondent may be living and why mail service is appropriate. Ms. Haynes attorney did not know why Mr. Secco would not come to his door where he lived, other than that was his last known address. When the Spokane Sheriff's department were unable to serve him on several occasions, that triggered the court rule allowing service by mail as long as the affiant indicated that he was hiding from service of process. There was no fraud involved because the court rule allows the party seeking mail service to cite to either option of living outside

the state or avoiding service as a basis for this kind of service.

See *Logg*, supra.

Finally, to commit fraud the party claiming that the other party committed fraud must satisfy the traditional <u>nine elements</u> of fraud. See e.g. See *Beckendorf v. Beckendorf*, 76 Wash.2d 457, 462, 457 P.2d 603 (1969); *Pedersen v. Bibioff*, 64 Wash.App. 710, 723 n. 10, 828 P.2d 1113 (1992). These cases show that you just can't shout out "fraud" in your argument without analyzing whether the nine elements have been met to claim fraud.

In this case Mr. Secco raises "fraud" as a basis to overturn the default, but does not show that that occurred. Ms. Haynes said she lived at Augusta, but that because of her fear of Mr. Secco did not live there all the time, and specifically stayed away from him during the time for mail service.

Living together in a home is common in the first part of a dissolution; it is rare to find people who are prepared for divorce, let alone moving to new residences. Should Mr. Secco's argument be adopted by the courts, everyone could simply avoid being served divorce papers stating that the other spouse was there, so they really were never served. This would throw the entire service of process into chaos and jam the courts with unrealistic expectations of having to find another residence before anyone could be served. And it would also encourage

passive avoidant spouses to use the shield of a "shared residency" to constantly avoid service; a point made by Commissioner Anderson in her discussion of this factor. CP 183-185. There was no fraud here.

F. Ms. Secco should be awarded her fees and costs for having to respond to this matter, which was caused by the Respondent/Appellant's intransigence.

Although attorney's fees in a marital dissolution are most often based on the concept of "need and ability to pay", case law indicates that when there is clear evidence of intransigence fees can be awarded under RCW 26.09.140 or in equity.

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