FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/16/2018 1:54 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON CASE NO.: 95329-5

Court of Appeals No.: 34050-3-III & 34698-6-III (consolidated)

In re the Marriage of

Melody Secco (nka Melody Secco),

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

Gordon Secco,

Respondent-Appellant.

RESPONDENT-APPELLANT SECCO'S ANSWER TO PETITIONER-RESPONDENT HAYNES' PETITION FOR REVIEW

ALBRECHT LAW PLLC Matthew C. Albrecht, WSBA #36801 Evan C. Schneider, WSBA #41920 Attorneys for Respondent-Appellant Secco 421 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 614 Spokane, Washington 99201 (509) 495-1246

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether Haynes' Petition for Review satisfies any of the requirements listed in RAP 13.4(b).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal stems from a dissolution action which Melody Secco (now known as Melody Haynes) filed on February 4, 2014. At that point, Haynes and Secco had been married for approximately 10 years.

A. Motion for service by mail.

Two months after filing, on April 2, 2014, Haynes moved the court to serve Secco by mail. In support of her motion, Haynes provided the court with three pieces of evidence: 1) her counsel's declaration, 2) a declaration from her friend¹, Mark Cavadini, and 3) a declaration from the sheriff. Her counsel's declaration claimed that Secco "cannot be found within this state" and that he had not been able to locate or serve him because he "concealed"

1

¹ Cavadini describes himself as Haynes' personal friend. Secco v. Secco, 1, Wn. App. 2d 1023, 1 (2017), rev. pending. Page numbering in this brief refers to the page numbers as the opinion is reproduced in the attached Appendix.

himself/herself to avoid service of summons." CP at 13-14; Id. The declaration of her counsel claimed "[s]ervice has been attempted 7 times by 2 different authorities and have been unsuccessful." Id. Mark Cavadini's declaration claimed:

Try to serve paper on the following date Feb 18, 2014 at time of 3:00pm Feb 19, 2014 at time of 1:30pm Feb 20, 2014 at time of 2:00pm

At Every attempt I could hear noise inside the house, But no answer! Address 8010 E. Augusta Ave. Spokane, WA.

Id. The sheriff's return declaration stated that "after diligent search and inquiry" the sheriff had been unable to serve Secco at 8010 E. Augusta Avenue in Spokane Valley², after "five attempts made." *Id*.

At no point did Haynes disclose to the Court that she remained living in their home at least part time while attempting personal service on Secco.³ *Id.* at 1-2. Haynes claims that she was primarily living elsewhere at times relevant to service of process but does admit to staying at their house one to two times per week. *Id.* at 2. Haynes' daughter also testified that Haynes stayed at the home with Secco at her lawyer's insistence (apparently to further her legal position in the property division). Id. Haynes never

is clearly invalid and contrary to the plain language of the Civil Rules.

² This was the home address to both Haynes and Secco.

³ Haynes dedicates a portion of her brief rebutting an argument that Secco never made: that she should have served him with the dissolution paperwork herself. Id. at 4. Such service

attempted to serve Secco at his place of employment and no attempts were ever made to call him (at home or on his cell phone) to arrange service of process.

Based on these three declarations, Haynes' motion to serve Secco with the dissolution paperwork via mail was granted. On July 9, 2014, Haynes obtained an order of default against Secco. *See Id.* There is no evidence that Secco had actual knowledge of the dissolution action or of the default having been entered.

B. Default decree of dissolution entered while Secco is in jail.

Beginning on August 22, 2014, Secco was in jail on charges stemming from Haynes' allegations of domestic violence.⁴ No such allegations were made in the dissolution petition or as the basis for Haynes' request for service by mail. On January 21, 2015, following a jury trial on the merits, Secco was acquitted of all charges and released from jail.

While Secco was in jail, Haynes noted a presentment hearing on October 27, 2014 to obtain her final dissolution decree. *Id.* at 2. Haynes

3

⁴ On August 22, 2014, at their home, Secco opened one of their doors into Haynes' foot, breaking a bone. Haynes alleged that infliction of this injury was purposeful and the result of a protracted assault by Secco. *Id.* Secco indicated that causing the injury to Haynes' foot was the result of him accidentally opening the door into her foot. *Id.*

mailed the final decree paperwork to Secco, which is when he first learned of the divorce proceedings. *Id*.

Upon receipt, and with limited time to respond, Secco contacted two attorneys, but was unable to pay a retainer since he was in jail. *Id.* Posting bail was not possible because Secco was a Canadian citizen and bond companies considered him a flight risk. *Id.*

On October 27, 2014, the trial court entered Haynes' dissolution decree via default, wherein she received the entirety of the couple's home. This was the sole substantial community property asset the couple owned. *Id.* Secco received the final decree in jail on November 10, 2014. *Id.*

C. Procedural History after Secco is found not guilty and released from jail.

After being found not guilty and having been released from jail, Secco filed a motion to vacate the default decree. Secco argued the improper mail service failed to satisfy due process requirements. *Id.* Without personal jurisdiction, the orders in Haynes' dissolution proceedings were void. Secco's motion was denied by the commissioner. Secco filed a timely motion for revision, which was denied. *Id.* This matter was appealed.

Secco filed a second motion to vacate based on CR 60(b)(4) (for fraud... misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party), and

CR 60(b)(9) (for unavoidable casualty or misfortune preventing a party from... defending). *Id.* at 3. This motion was denied and then timely appealed. Both appeals were consolidated. *Id.*

IV. HAYNES' PETITION FOR REVIEW FAILS TO MEET ANY OF THE REQUIREMENTS OF RAP 13.4(b)

Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b) outlines the Supreme Court's four criteria governing acceptance of petitions for review, at least one of which must be satisfied. RAP 13.4(b) states that "[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

A petition for review will be granted only in certain circumscribed cases, RAP 13.4(b), and, if [the Supreme Court] accepts review, [it] will review only the questions raised in the petition and in the answer to the petition, unless the court orders otherwise. *Shumway v. Payne*, 136 Wn. 2d 383, 392-393, 964 P.2d 349 (1998). Here, Haynes fails to analyze or show how any

of these four requirements are met.⁵ Secco nonetheless independently addresses each of the RAP 13.4(b) factors on their own merits below.

A. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court.

Review is not warranted by RAP 13.4(b)(1) because it does not illustrate any conflict between a Court of Appeals opinion and any decision of the Supreme Court. Since Haynes does not raise any such conflicts in her Petition, nor are there any apparent from the Court of Appeals decision, review of Haynes' Petition under RAP 13.4(b)(1) should be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision does not conflict with other Court of Appeals decisions.

The court rules implicitly recognize that only the Supreme Court can overrule a Court of Appeals decision. For this reason, if the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals, a basis exists for a petition for discretionary review by the Supreme Court. *Grizby III v. Herzog*, 190 Wn. App. 786, 808-809, 362 P.3d 763 (2015) (internal quotations omitted). However, here Haynes does not present any conflicts in Court of Appeals decisions requiring reconciliation by the Supreme Court.

⁵Rather than address RAP 13.4(b) at all, it appears that Haynes' Petition for Review is a copy of her appellate Reply brief.

The Court of Appeals provided some clarification for plaintiffs regarding substitute service (and in fact warns parties to use caution when seeking to use substitute service⁶), there was no need to reconcile any conflicting legal authority. Since there is no conflict between Court of Appeals decisions for the Supreme Court to address, review of Haynes' Petition is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. The only significant constitutional question raised in this case is Secco's right to due process, which was resolved properly by the Court of Appeals.

Per RAP 13.4(b)(3), review of a petition by the Supreme Court is warranted if it poses a question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States. The only significant constitutional question reached by the Court of Appeals concerns Secco's due process rights, which was already resolved below to satisfy his due process rights.

The Court of Appeals focused on the requirements for a successful challenge to orders entered based on improper service of process.⁷

⁶ See Secco, 1 Wn. App. 2d 1023 at 5.

⁷ There was disagreement between the majority and the dissenting opinions regarding the difference in procedure between pre- and post-judgment motions to vacate, but the Court of Appeals explained "... when a default judgment has been entered that will deprive a defendant of the opportunity to be heard on the merits unless set aside, the stake for the defendant – due process – warrants looking at whether the circumstances justified substitute service in fact. Id. at 4. Despite this, even Judge Korsmo in his dissent decision below is consistent with the law as it exists. Id. at 6.

However, these concerns have been already appropriately addressed by Washington case law by the Court in *Parkash* and *Brennan*. The Court in Parkash addressed pre-judgment motions to vacate stating that the original affidavits in support of substitute service alone are reviewed for sufficiency. Parkash v. Perry, 40 Wn. App. 849, 851-53, 700 P.2d 1201 (1985). But in a post-judgment motion to vacate the Court does not look to the sufficiency of the affidavits, but rather to what in fact Haynes, as the petitioner, did before seeking to serve Secco via substitute service. Brennan v. Hurt, 59 Wn. App. 315, 319, 796 P.2d 786 (1990); See Secco, 1 Wn. App. 2d 1023 at 4.8 Under this analysis the Court looks to see if Haynes in fact made an honest and reasonable effort to locate the defendant. Brenner v. Port of Bellingham, 53 Wn. App. 182, 186, 765 P.2d 1333 (1989); see also, Secco. An honest and reasonable effort includes not only following up on available information, it also means following up on ways of personally contacting a defendant. Secco, at 5. "The focus is that a plaintiff makes a good faith effort [to personally serve a defendant] (and not whether it was unreasonable for a defendant to refuse to respond a knock at the front door). Id.

⁸ Haynes cites to *Brennan v. Hurt* both in her appellate Reply and again in her Petition to this Court. *See* Haynes Petition for Review at 8.

This case involves two post-judgment motions to vacate. The Court of Appeals properly found that Haynes' attempts at service solely at their home were insufficient in fact. Id. There was nothing in the record of Haynes attempting service at Secco's work. Similarly, there was no mention that any attempt was made to call Secco to arrange service of process. Following *Brennan*, the Court of Appeals properly found that Haynes' efforts *in fact* to attempt personal service prior to seeking substitute service failed to satisfy the requirements in CR 4(b)(4) and RCW § 4.28.100. *Id.* at 5.

In additional to following well-established case law in *Brennan*, the Court of Appeals' finding also complies with the Court's overarching policy that [substitute service] "is in derogation of the common law and cannot be used when personal service is possible." *Rodriguez v. James-Jackson*, 127 Wn. App. 139, 143, 111 P.3d 271 (2005); *Secco*, at 3. It also supports the Court's preference that matters be tried on their merits rather than by default. *Secco*, at 4.

⁹ The Court of Appeals found Secco's first appeal based on CR 60(b)(5) to be dispositive and, as a result, did not reach the second appeal based on CR 60(b)(4) and CR 60(b)(9). Secco. at 1.

¹⁰ The dissent speculates that additional attempts at personal service would possibly subject Haynes to danger. However, this concern is misplaced here as such a concern is rebutted by Haynes' own testimony in Secco's criminal trial. CP at 258-259; *Id.* at 5.

¹¹ That Secco was found at work and arrested on August 22, 2014 is evidence of just one of the service alternatives open to Haynes and her lawyer. *Id*.

Haynes' Petition does not satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(3) and review should be denied.

D. The Court of Appeals decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

Per RAP 13.4(b)(4), review of Haynes' Petition may be warranted if it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Haynes' Petition does not raise any arguments under RAP 13.4(b)(4)). However, the dissent below raises concerns about when a plaintiff may find themselves in danger if forced to be in the presence of a hostile or violent defendant after being served with lawsuit paperwork. *Secco*, at 7. While the dissent raises concerns that are both serious and legitimate, there is nothing in the record to support the dissent's concern in this case. The dissent's concerns would be better served by proper evaluation in a case where such a significant public interest had been thoroughly developed through the record, rather than a case in which they are hypothetical concerns.

Haynes' Petition does not address a substantial public interest as contemplated by RAP 13.4(b)(4) and, even if she did, such an interest would favor finding as the Court of Appeals did: in favor of Secco. The Petition for Review should be denied.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Based on the foregoing argument and authority, Gordon Secco respectfully request that this Court deny Haynes' Petition for Review.

DATED this ____day of February at Spokane, Washington.

ALBRECHT LAW PLLC

By:

Matthew C. Albrecht, WSBA #36801 Evan C. Schneider, WSBA #41920

Attorneys for Respondent-Appellant Secco